MADISON NATIONAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY, INC.

1241 John Q. Hammons Drive • Madison, WI 53717

Administrated by: North American Benefits Company (NABCO) • 20 Valley Stream Parkway, Suite 310, Malvern, PA 19355

GROUP LONG TERM DISABILITY INSURANCE CERTIFICATE OF COVERAGE

The Group Policy has been issued to the Policyowner. No coverage under the Group Policy is in effect until approved in writing by Madison National Life Insurance Company, Inc.

All provisions on this and the following pages are part of the Certificate of Coverage.

The Group Policy is on file and available for review at the main office of the Policyholder. The Certificate summarizes and explains the parts of the Group Policy that apply to you. This certificate is not an insurance policy. In the event of any conflict between the Group Policy and the Certificate, the Group Policy will control.

This Certificate replaces any other Certificates previously provided to you under the Group Policy.

Unless defined differently within a particular provision, the terms "you" and "your" mean the Eligible Person. "We", "us" and "our" mean Madison National Life Insurance Company. Other defined terms appear with their initial letters capitalized. References to section headings appear in quotation marks.

MADISON NATIONAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY, INC.

Larry R. Graber

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| SCHEDUL | E OF BENEFITS | 3 |
|------------|--|----|
| DEFINITION | ONS | 5 |
| I. | INSURING CLAUSE | 8 |
| II. | ELIGIBILITY FOR INSURANCE | 8 |
| III. | BECOMING INSURED | 9 |
| IV. | WAIVER OF PREMIUM | 10 |
| V. | WHEN YOUR INSURANCE ENDS | 10 |
| VI. | RULES FOR TRANSFER OF EMPLOYEES FROM PRIOR PLAN | 12 |
| VII. | REINSTATEMENT OF COVERAGE | 13 |
| VIII. | DEFINITION OF DISABILITY | 13 |
| IX. | CUMULATIVE ELIMINATION PERIOD | 14 |
| X. | RECURRENT DISABILITY | 14 |
| XI. | WHEN LTD BENEFITS END | 14 |
| XII. | PREDISABILITY EARNINGS | 15 |
| XIII. | LTD BENEFIT CALCULATION | 15 |
| XIV. | DEDUCTIBLE INCOME | 16 |
| XV. | BENEFITS AFTER INSURANCE ENDS OR IS CHANGED | 18 |
| XVI. | EFFECT OF NEW DISABILITY | 18 |
| XVII. | EXCLUSIONS | 19 |
| XVIII. | LIMITATIONS | 20 |
| XIX. | RESPONSIBILITIES OF DISABLED INSURED PERSONS | 21 |
| XX. | CLAIMS | 22 |
| XXI. | RIGHT TO REIMBURSEMENT | 24 |
| XXII. | ALLOCATION OF AUTHORITY | 24 |
| XXIII. | TIME LIMITS ON LEGAL ACTIONS | 25 |
| XXIV. | INCONTESTABILITY PROVISIONS | 25 |
| XXV. | CLERICAL ERROR AND MISSTATEMENT | 25 |
| XXVI. | FRAUD | 26 |
| XXVII. | TERMINATION OR AMENDMENT OF THE GROUP POLICY AND EMPLOYER COVERAGE | 26 |
| XXVIII. | REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION EXPENSE BENEFIT | 26 |
| XXIX. | REHABILITATION BENEFIT | 27 |
| XXX. | SURVIVOR BENEFIT | 27 |

SCHEDULE OF BENEFITS

Employer: Mennonite Church USA

Plan Number: 7901

Original Plan Effective Date: May 1, 2015

Eligible Class: Class 1 – All full-time Credentialed Pastors working at least 20

hours per week and are being paid for at least 10 hours per week, and who are eligible to participate in, or who can appropriately

waive the CEP Health Coverage Plan

Minimum Hourly Work Requirement: 20 hours per week

Waiting Period: Date of employment

Employee Eligibility Date: First day of the Waiting Period

LTD Benefit Percentage: 66-2/3%

Maximum Monthly Covered Salary: \$9,000

Maximum Monthly Benefit: \$6,000 or 66-2/3 % of your Predisability Earnings

Minimum Monthly Benefit: \$100 or 10% of Gross Monthly Benefit whichever is greater

Guarantee Issue: All amounts

Maximum Benefit Period:

| Age at | Benefit |
|---------------|-------------|
| Disablement | Duration |
| 61 or younger | to age 65 |
| 62 | 3-1/2 years |
| 63 | 3 years |
| 64 | 2-1/2 years |
| 65 | 2 years |
| 66 | 1-3/4 years |
| 67 | 1-1/2 years |
| 68 | 1-1/4 years |
| 69 or older | 1 year |

Claim Payment Method: Monthly

Elimination Period: 180 days

Own Occupation Period: 36 months beginning the day immediately following the last day of

the Elimination Period.

Any Occupation Period: From the end of the Own Occupation Period to the end of the

Maximum Benefit Period.

Definition of Disability: Residual

Definition of Predisability Earnings: See Section XII. Predisability Earnings

Employee Premium Contribution: Not Required

Employer Premium Contribution: Required

Evidence of Insurability

Requirement: Applies to Late Enrollees, and amounts over Guarantee Issue

amount.

Pre-existing Condition Exclusion: Applies -3/6/12

Leaves of Absence Included

Mental Disorder Limitation: 2 years unless Hospital Confined

Substance Abuse Limitation: 2 years unless Hospital Confined

Social Security Integration: Full Family

Freeze Type: General freeze

Integration with Work Earnings: Proportionate

Work Incentive: Included

Work Incentive Period: 12 months

Reasonable Accommodation

Expense Benefit: Included

Rehabilitation Benefit: Included

Survivor Benefit: Included

SCHEDULE OF BENEFITS

Employer: Mennonite Church USA

Plan Number: 7901

Original Plan Effective Date: May 1, 2015

Eligible Class: Class 2 – All full-time Non-Credentialed Employees working at

least 30 hours per week and who are eligible to participate in, or who

can appropriately waive the CEP Health Coverage Plan

Minimum Hourly Work Requirement: 30 hours per week

Waiting Period: Date of employment

Employee Eligibility Date: First day of the Waiting Period

LTD Benefit Percentage: 66-2/3%

Maximum Monthly Covered Salary: \$9,000

Maximum Monthly Benefit: \$6,000 or 66-2/3 % of your Predisability Earnings

Minimum Monthly Benefit: \$100 or 10% of Gross Monthly Benefit whichever is greater

Guarantee Issue: All amounts

Maximum Benefit Period:

| Age at | Benefit |
|---------------|-------------|
| Disablement | Duration |
| 61 or younger | to age 65 |
| 62 | 3-1/2 years |
| 63 | 3 years |
| 64 | 2-1/2 years |
| 65 | 2 years |
| 66 | 1-3/4 years |
| 67 | 1-1/2 years |
| 68 | 1-1/4 years |
| 69 or older | 1 year |

Claim Payment Method: Monthly

Elimination Period: 180 days

Own Occupation Period: 36 months beginning the day immediately following the last day of

the Elimination Period.

Any Occupation Period: From the end of the Own Occupation Period to the end of the

Maximum Benefit Period.

Definition of Disability: Residual

Definition of Predisability Earnings: See Section XII. Predisability Earnings

Employee Premium Contribution: Not Required

Employer Premium Contribution: Required

Evidence of Insurability

Requirement: Applies to Late Enrollees, and amounts over Guarantee Issue

amount.

Pre-existing Condition Exclusion: Applies -3/6/12

Leaves of Absence Included

Mental Disorder Limitation: 2 years unless Hospital Confined

Substance Abuse Limitation: 2 years unless Hospital Confined

Social Security Integration: Full Family

Freeze Type: General freeze

Integration with Work Earnings: Proportionate

Work Incentive: Included

Work Incentive Period: 12 months

Reasonable Accommodation

Expense Benefit: Included

Rehabilitation Benefit: Included

Survivor Benefit: Included

SCHEDULE OF BENEFITS

Employer: Mennonite Church USA

Plan Number: 7901

Original Plan Effective Date: May 1, 2015

Eligible Class: Class 3 – All full-time Non-Credentialed Employees working at

least 20 hours per week and who have enrolled in the CEP Group

Health Coverage Plan prior to January 1, 2010

Minimum Hourly Work Requirement: 20 hours per week

Waiting Period: Date of employment

Employee Eligibility Date: First day of the Waiting Period

LTD Benefit Percentage: 66-2/3%

Maximum Monthly Covered Salary: \$9,000

Maximum Monthly Benefit: \$6,000 or 66-2/3 % of your Predisability Earnings

Minimum Monthly Benefit: \$100 or 10% of Gross Monthly Benefit whichever is greater

Guarantee Issue: All amounts

Maximum Benefit Period:

| Age at | Benefit |
|---------------|-------------|
| Disablement | Duration |
| 61 or younger | to age 65 |
| 62 | 3-1/2 years |
| 63 | 3 years |
| 64 | 2-1/2 years |
| 65 | 2 years |
| 66 | 1-3/4 years |
| 67 | 1-1/2 years |
| 68 | 1-1/4 years |
| 69 or older | 1 year |

Claim Payment Method: Monthly

Elimination Period: 180 days

Own Occupation Period: 36 months beginning the day immediately following the last day of

the Elimination Period.

Any Occupation Period: From the end of the Own Occupation Period to the end of the

Maximum Benefit Period.

Definition of Disability: Residual

Definition of Predisability Earnings: See Section XII. Predisability Earnings

Employee Premium Contribution: Not Required

Employer Premium Contribution: Required

Evidence of Insurability

Requirement: Applies to Late Enrollees, and amounts over Guarantee Issue

amount.

Pre-existing Condition Exclusion: Applies -3/6/12

Leaves of Absence Included

Mental Disorder Limitation: 2 years unless Hospital Confined

Substance Abuse Limitation: 2 years unless Hospital Confined

Social Security Integration: Full Family

Freeze Type: General freeze

Integration with Work Earnings: Proportionate

Work Incentive: Included

Work Incentive Period: 12 months

Reasonable Accommodation

Expense Benefit: Included

Rehabilitation Benefit: Included

Survivor Benefit: Included

DEFINITIONS

Active Work and Actively at Work are defined in Section II.

Any Occupation means any job for which you are qualified by education, training, or experience regardless of whether you are working in that or another occupation.

Contributory means that you pay all or a portion of the premium for insurance.

CPI-W means the Consumer Price Index for Urban Wage Earners and Clerical Workers published by the United States Department of Labor. If the CPI-W is discontinued or changed, we may use a comparable index. Where required, we will obtain prior state approval of the new index.

Deductible Income is defined in Section XIV.

Disability and Disabled are defined in Section VIII.

Eligible Class means an employment classification defined by the Employer and specified in the "Schedule of Benefits". You must be a member of an Eligible Class in order to be eligible for insurance under the Group Policy.

Eligible Person is defined in Section II.

Elimination Period means the period of time that you must be continuously Disabled before LTD Benefits become payable. No LTD Benefits are payable during the Elimination Period. Your Elimination Period is specified in the "Schedule of Benefits".

Employee is defined in Section II.

Employer means an employer (including approved affiliates and subsidiaries) to whom we have assigned a Plan Number and issued a Group Policy.

Evidence of Insurability is defined in Section III.

Group Policy with respect to the Policyowner means the group LTD insurance policy issued by us to the Policyowner under a specified Plan Number.

Gross LTD Benefit is defined in Section XIII.

Guarantee Issue is the amount of coverage provided, up to the Maximum Monthly Benefit, which is not subject to Evidence of Insurability.

Hospital means a legally operated hospital providing full-time medical care and treatment under the direction of a full-time staff of licensed physicians. Rest homes, nursing homes, convalescent homes, homes for the aged and facilities primarily affording custodial, educational, or rehabilitative care are not Hospitals

Indexed Predisability Earnings means your Predisability Earnings adjusted annually by the lesser of the rate of increase in the CPI-W or 10%. During the first year of Disability, Indexed Predisability Earnings are the same as the Predisability Earnings. Thereafter, your Indexed Predisability Earnings are determined on each anniversary of your Disability using the above method. The maximum adjustment in any year is 10%. If the

rate of the CPI-W decreases, your Indexed Predisability Earnings may reduce accordingly; however, such adjustments will never reduce your Indexed Predisability Earnings below the original amount.

Injury means a bodily injury that is the direct result of an accident, that is not related to any other cause, and which in and of itself results in your Disability within 90 days. Benefits will be payable to you only if the Injury occurs while you are insured under the Group Policy.

Insured Person means an Eligible Person whose coverage has become effective under the Group Policy.

Late Enrollee means an Employee who applies for coverage under the Group Policy more than 31 days after becoming an Eligible Person.

LTD means long term disability.

LTD Benefit means the net benefit payment due to you after deductions are applied to your Gross LTD Benefit as provided for under the Group Policy. Your LTD Benefit is calculated under Section XIII.

Material Duties is defined in Section II.

Maximum Benefit Period means the longest period for which LTD Benefits are payable for any one period of continuous Disability, whether from one or more causes. It begins at the end of the Elimination Period. No LTD Benefits are payable after the end of the Maximum Benefit Period, even if you are still Disabled. Your Maximum Benefit Period is specified in the "Schedule of Benefits".

Mental Disorder means any mental, emotional, behavioral, psychological, personality, cognitive, mood or stress-related abnormality, disorder, disturbance, dysfunction or syndrome listed in the latest edition of the American Psychiatric Association Diagnostic and Statistical Manual or the International Classification of Disease.

Noncontributory means the Employer pays the entire premium for insurance.

Own Occupation means the occupation you routinely perform for the Employer at the time Disability begins. We will look at your occupation as it is normally performed in the national economy, instead of how the work tasks are performed for a specific employer or at a specific location.

Physical Disease means a physical disease entity or process that produces structural or functional changes in the body as diagnosed by a Physician. Physical Disease includes Pregnancy.

Physician means a licensed medical professional under the laws of a state of the United States of America, acting within the scope of such license, who is permitted by law to prescribe medications and practice independent of supervision.

For the purpose of this Group Policy, Physician will not include you or your Spouse, or the brother, sister, parent or child of either an Insured Person or an Insured Person's Spouse.

Plan Effective Date means the date on which the Group Policy (with respect to the Employer) becomes effective.

Plan Number means the number used by us to reference an Employer and the terms of coverage specified under the Group Policy.

Policyowner means the Employer.

Predisability Earnings is defined in Section XII.

Pre-existing Condition is defined in Section XVII.

Pregnancy means a pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions, including complications of pregnancy.

Prior Plan means an Employer's group long term disability insurance plan in effect on the day immediately preceding the Plan Effective Date under this Group Policy.

Proof of Loss is defined in Section XX.

Regular Care of a Physician means:

- 1. that you personally visit a Physician as frequently as is medically required according to standard medical practice, but in no event less than annually, to effectively manage and treat your disabling condition(s);
- 2. that your Physician is rendering appropriate treatment and care for the disabling condition(s) which conform(s) with standard medical practice and is the most appropriate for the disabling condition(s), according to standard medical practice; and
- 3. that you are complying with all aspects of the treatment plan prescribed by the Physician.

Retirement Date means the earlier of:

- 1. the date you retire as defined by your Employer;
- 2. the date you become eligible to receive retirement benefits under any pension plan to which the Employer contributes, or
- 3. the date you become eligible to receive retirement benefits under any state or federal retirement plan or under social security law.

Spouse means a person to whom you are legally married and from whom you are not legally separated.

Substance Abuse means a condition listed in the latest edition of the American Psychiatric Association Diagnostic and Statistical Manual or the International Classification of Disease within a classification category or code including but not limited to 291, 292, 303, 304 or 305.

Waiting Period is defined in Section II and the "Schedule of Benefits".

Work Earnings means your gross monthly earnings from work performed while Disabled.

Work Earnings includes earnings from your Employer, any other employer, self-employment and any sick pay, vacation pay, annual or personal leave pay or other salary continuation earned or accrued while working.

If you are paid in a lump sum or on a basis other than monthly, we will prorate your Work Earnings over the period of time to which they apply. If no period of time is stated, we will make a reasonable estimate.

In determining your Work Earnings, we:

- 1. will use the financial accounting method you use for income tax purposes, if you use that method on a consistent basis;
- 2. will not be limited to the taxable income you report to the Internal Revenue Service;
- 3. may ignore expenses under section 179 of the IRC as a deduction from your gross earnings;
- 4. may ignore depreciation as a deduction from your gross earnings;
- 5. may adjust the financial information you give us in order to clearly reflect your Work Earnings.

If we determine that your earnings vary substantially from month to month, we may determine Work Earnings by averaging your earnings over the most recent three-month period. During the Own Occupation Period, you will no longer be Disabled when your average Work Earnings over the last three months equal or exceed 80% of your Indexed Predisability Earnings, or when you are capable of earning 80% or more of your

Indexed Predisability Earnings. During the Any Occupation Period, you will no longer be Disabled when your average Work Earnings over the last three months equal or exceed 60% of your Indexed Predisability

Earnings, or when you are capable of earning 60% or more of your Indexed Predisability Earnings.

I. INSURING CLAUSE

A If you become Disabled while insured under the Group Policy, we will pay LTD Benefits according to the terms of your Employer's coverage under the Group Policy, after we receive satisfactory Proof of Loss.

GLDI-C600-(12/06)

II. ELIGIBILITY FOR INSURANCE

- A. To be eligible for insurance under the Group Policy, you must be an Eligible Person. An **Eligible Person** is an Employee who has met the following requirements:
 - 1. You must be an Employee. **Employee** means an individual who works for the Employer as a member of an Eligible Class who is reported on the Employer's records for Social Security and tax withholding purposes.
 - 2. You must be a citizen or legal resident of the United States or Canada, and you must reside in the United States or Canada;
 - 3. You must be Actively at Work and capable of sustained Active Work on the effective date of your coverage and the effective date of any subsequent increase in LTD coverage because of an Eligible Class or Group Policy change.
 - a) **Active Work** and **Actively at Work** mean performing all the Material Duties of your Own Occupation at your Employer's usual place of business, and satisfying the Minimum Hourly Work Requirement. Actively at Work will include regularly scheduled days off, holidays, or vacation days, so long as you are capable of Active Work on those days.
 - b) **Minimum Hourly Work Requirement** means the work hours over a given time period that are required of you in order to be eligible for coverage. Your Minimum Hourly Work Requirement is specified in the "Schedule of Benefits".
 - c) **Material Duties** means the duties generally required by employers in the national economy of those engaged in a particular occupation that cannot be reasonably modified or omitted. In no event will working an average of more than 40 hours per week be considered a Material Duty.
 - 4. You cannot be a part-time/temporary or seasonal employee/full-time member of the armed forces of any country, leased employee or independent contractor.
 - 5. You must satisfy your Waiting Period. **Waiting Period** means the period of time that you must be Actively at Work as an Employee before your coverage may become effective. Your Waiting Period is specified in the "Schedule of Benefits".

GLDI-C700-(12/06)

III. BECOMING INSURED

- A. To become an Insured Person under the Group Policy, you must be an Eligible Person and meet the following requirements as each may apply:
 - 1. If Evidence of Insurability is required, you must provide such Evidence of Insurability and be approved for coverage by us. The "Schedule of Benefits" specifies when Evidence of Insurability is required.

2. Evidence of Insurability.

- a) Providing Evidence of Insurability means that an applicant must:
 - (1) complete and sign our Evidence of Insurability application and return the original application to us no later than 60 days from the date of signing; and
 - (2) authorize us to obtain information about the applicant's health; and
 - (3) undergo a physical examination, if required by us, which may include diagnostic testing; and
 - (4) provide any additional information about the applicant's insurability that we may reasonably require.
- b) If you, your Spouse or your dependents are required to provide Evidence of Insurability, you will be responsible for all costs associated with providing Evidence of Insurability.
- c) In each case where Evidence of Insurability is required, we base our decision whether to approve coverage on the information provided during the underwriting process. If we learn that the information relied on to approve coverage was incorrect, or that relevant information was omitted, we may retroactively rescind coverage and deny claims.
- 3. If the insurance you wish to obtain is Contributory insurance, you must apply in writing and remit the required premiums.

B. Effective Date of Your Insurance

- 1. Initial Enrollment
 - a) Noncontributory insurance not subject to Evidence of Insurability, or which is subject to Evidence of Insurability and has been approved by us, becomes effective on the date you become an Eligible Person. If, however, you initially waive participation in such coverage and then later wish to participate, you will be treated as a Late Enrollee, subject to Evidence of Insurability.
 - b) Contributory insurance subject to Evidence of Insurability becomes effective on the first day of the month immediately following the month in which your Evidence of Insurability is approved by us, except that if such approval occurs on the first day of a month, such coverage becomes effective on that day.
 - c) Contributory insurance not subject to Evidence of Insurability. Provided that you apply prior to, or within 31 days of becoming an Eligible Person, Contributory insurance not subject to Evidence of Insurability becomes effective on the date you become an Eligible Person. If you do not apply for such coverage prior to, or within 31 days of becoming an Eligible Person and subsequently wish to obtain coverage, you will be a Late Enrollee, subject to Evidence of Insurability.

2. Increases in Existing Coverage and Late Enrollee Applications

- a) Where Evidence of Insurability is required, increases of existing coverage and Late Enrollee applications become effective on the first day of the month immediately following the month in which your Evidence of Insurability is approved by us, except that if such approval occurs on the first day of a month, such coverage becomes effective on that day.
- b) Where Evidence of Insurability is not required, an increase of existing coverage becomes effective on the date that you become eligible for such coverage.

3. If you are incapable of sustained Active Work due to a Disability on the day before the scheduled effective date of your insurance, such insurance will not become effective until the day after you are capable of sustained Active Work and complete one day of Active Work as an Eligible Person.

GLDI-C800-(12/06)

IV. WAIVER OF PREMIUM

A. Premium payments are required during the Elimination Period. However, payment of premium is waived while LTD Benefits are payable. Upon your return to Active Work, premium payments will again be payable.

GLDI-C900-(12/06)

V. WHEN YOUR INSURANCE ENDS This provision applies to you if you are not Disabled.

- A. Except as otherwise provided for under this section, your coverage will cease on the earliest of the following to occur:
 - 1. the date your Employer's coverage under the Group Policy terminates;
 - 2. the date you cease to be an Eligible Person;
 - 3. the date that your premium payment is not paid when required;
 - 4. the date you become eligible for coverage under another group long-term disability policy;
 - 5. your Retirement Date.
- B. Approved FMLA Leave of Absence Contributory or Noncontributory Coverage
 - 1. If you are on a FMLA leave, coverage will continue until the later of the leave period required by the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, as amended, or the leave period required by applicable state law, provided that:
 - a) the FMLA leave is approved in advance by the Employer and such approval includes documentation of the beginning and ending dates of the leave and the amount of your covered salary. Such documentation about your leave must be available to Us at Our request.
 - b) FMLA leaves of absence and the right to continue coverage during FMLA leaves are available to all Employees in the same Eligible Class under the Group Policy; and
 - c) the Employer remits the required premium for coverage.
 - 2. The Elimination Period can be satisfied and benefits may be payable during a FMLA leave subject to all other contract provisions. The benefit will be based on the lesser of your earnings in effect on your last full day of Active Work prior to the leave, or the salary for which premium was paid.
- C. Paid Leave of Absence. If you are on a paid leave of absence, coverage will continue subject to the following:
 - 1. Noncontributory coverage
 - a) Coverage will continue provided that:
 - (1) the paid leave of absence is approved in advance by the Employer and such approval includes documentation of the beginning and ending dates of the leave and the amount of your covered salary. Such documentation about your paid leave of absence must be made available to Us at Our request; and
 - (2) paid leaves of absence and the right to continue coverage during paid leaves are available to all Employees in the same Eligible Class under the Group Policy; and
 - (3) the Employer remits the required premium for coverage.
 - b) The Elimination Period can be satisfied during a paid leave of absence, but benefits will not begin until the later of the end of the Elimination Period or the date the paid leave was scheduled to end. In

- the event a benefit is payable, it will be based on the lesser of your earnings in effect on your last full day of Active Work prior to the paid leave of absence, or the salary for which premium was paid.
- c) Unless you return to active, eligible status on or before the date the leave is scheduled to end, coverage extended during a paid leave will terminate on the earlier of the date the paid leave is scheduled to end or 1 month from the date the paid leave began.

2. Contributory Coverage

- a) Coverage will continue provided that:
 - (1) the paid leave of absence is approved in advance by the Employer and such approval includes documentation of the beginning and ending dates of the leave and the amount of your covered salary. Such documentation about your paid leave of absence must be made available to Us at Our request; and
 - (2) paid leaves of absence and the right to continue coverage during paid leaves of absence are available to all Employees in the same Eligible Class under the Group Policy; and
 - (3) you continue to pay the required premium to the Employer without interruption and the Employer continues to remit premium to us on your behalf.
- b) The Elimination Period can be satisfied during a paid leave of absence, but benefits will not begin until the later of the end of the Elimination Period or the date the paid leave was scheduled to end. In the event a benefit is payable, it will be based on the lesser of your earnings in effect on your last full day of Active Work prior to the paid leave of absence, or the salary for which premium was paid.
- c) Unless you return to active, eligible status on or before the date the paid leave of absence is scheduled to end, coverage extended during a paid leave of absence will terminate on the earlier of the date the paid leave of absence is scheduled to end or 1 month from the date the paid leave of absence began.
- d) If you choose not to continue coverage or your coverage terminates during a paid leave of absence and you subsequently wish to obtain coverage, you will be treated as a Late Enrollee and be required to provide Evidence of Insurability.
- D. Unpaid Leave of Absence If you are on an unpaid leave of absence, coverage will continue subject to the following:
 - 1. Noncontributory Coverage
 - a) Coverage will continue provided that:
 - (1) the unpaid leave of absence is approved in advance by the Employer and such approval includes documentation of the beginning and ending dates of the leave and the amount of your covered salary. Such documentation about your unpaid leave of absence must be made available to Us at Our request; and
 - (2) unpaid leaves of absence and the right to continue coverage during unpaid leaves of absence are available to all Employees in the same Eligible Class under the Group Policy; and
 - (3) the Employer remits the required premium for coverage.
 - b) No benefits are payable during an unpaid leave of absence. If you become Disabled during such leave, the Elimination Period will begin on the date the unpaid leave of absence was scheduled to end. The benefit will be based on the lesser of your earnings in effect on your last full day of Active Work prior to the unpaid leave of absence, or the salary for which premium was paid.
 - c) Unless you return to active, eligible status on or before the date the unpaid leave of absence is scheduled to end, coverage extended during an unpaid leave of absence will terminate on the earlier of the date the unpaid leave of absence is scheduled to end or 1 month from the date the unpaid leave of absence began.

2. Contributory Coverage

- a) Coverage will continue provided that:
 - (1) the unpaid leave of absence is approved in advance by the Employer and such approval includes documentation of the beginning and ending dates of the leave and the amount your covered salary. Such documentation about your unpaid leave of absence must be made available to Us at Our request; and
 - (2) unpaid leaves of absence and the right to continue coverage during unpaid leave of absence are available to all Employees in the same Eligible Class under the Group Policy; and
 - (3) you continue to pay the required premium to the Employer without interruption and the Employer continues to remit premium to us on your behalf.
- b) No benefits are payable during an unpaid leave of absence. If you become Disabled during such leave, the Elimination Period will begin on the date the unpaid leave of absence was scheduled to end. The benefit will be based on the lesser of your earnings in effect on your last full day of Active Work prior to the unpaid leave of absence, or the salary for which premium was paid.
- c) Unless you return to active, eligible status on or before the date the unpaid leave of absence is scheduled to end, coverage extended during an unpaid leave of absence will terminate on the earlier of the date the unpaid leave of absence is scheduled to end or 1 month from the date the unpaid leave of absence began.
- d) If you choose not to continue coverage or your coverage terminates during an unpaid leave of absence and you subsequently wish to obtain coverage, you will be treated as a Late Enrollee and be required to provide Evidence of Insurability.
- E. Layoffs Contributory or Noncontributory Coverage
 - 1. If you are on a leave of absence due to a lay-off, coverage will continue 1 month after your last day worked prior to the lay-off.

GSDI-C1000-(12/06)

VI. RULES FOR TRANSFER OF EMPLOYEES FROM PRIOR PLAN

- A. If you were eligible for insurance and insured under the Prior Plan on the day before the Plan Effective Date, you can become insured on the Plan Effective Date without meeting the Active Work requirement under Section II.A.3.
- B. The LTD Benefit will be the lesser of the monthly benefit that would have been payable under the terms of the Prior Plan if it had remained in force, or the LTD Benefit as determined under the other provisions of this Group Policy. However, no benefits will be payable to you under the Group Policy if any benefits are payable to you under the Prior Plan.
- C. If you were eligible for insurance under the Prior Plan for more than 31 days but were not insured under the Prior Plan, you must provide Evidence of Insurability and be approved by us to become insured.
- D. Continuation of Coverage and Pre-existing Conditions. In calculating the coverage period for determining whether the Pre-existing Condition Exclusion applies, we will include any period of continuous coverage under the Prior Plan immediately preceding the date you became insured under the Group Policy.

GLDI-C1100-(12/06)

VII. REINSTATEMENT OF COVERAGE

- A. If your coverage ends, you may become covered again as an Insured Person, subject to the following:
 - 1. If you cease to be an Eligible Person and coverage ends, and then you return to Active Work with the Employer again within 6 months, the Waiting Period will be waived on the first day of your return to Active Work and you will not have to provide Evidence of Insurability. If you become covered again under this paragraph, the Pre-existing Condition Exclusion will be applied as if there had been no gap in coverage.
 - 2. If your coverage ends because you fail to make the required contribution while on an approved Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) leave of absence, and then you return to Active Work and enroll for coverage within 31 days of the earlier of:
 - a) the end of the period of leave you and your Employer agreed upon; or
 - b) the end of the 12-week period following the date your leave began,
 - then the Waiting Period will be waived and you will not have to provide Evidence of Insurability. If you become covered again under this paragraph and a Pre-existing Condition Exclusion applies, such Exclusion will be applied as if there had been no gap in coverage.
 - 3. In all other cases, if your coverage ends because you fail to make the required contribution, you must provide Evidence of Insurability to become covered again.
 - 4. In no event will insurance coverage be retroactive.

GLDI-C1200-(12/06)

VIII. DEFINITION OF DISABILITY

A. **Disability or Disabled** means that during the Elimination Period and your Own Occupation Period you are, as a result of Physical Disease, Injury, Mental Disorder, Substance Abuse or Pregnancy, unable to perform one or more of the Material Duties of your Own Occupation, and, due to such inability, your Work Earnings are less than 80% of your Indexed Predisability Earnings, and you are incapable of earning 80% or more of your Indexed Predisability Earnings.

Your Work Earnings may be Deductible Income. See the "LTD Benefit Calculation" and "Deductible Income" sections.

B. After your Own Occupation Period ends, **Disability and Disabled** mean you are, as a result of Physical Disease, Injury, Mental Disorder, Substance Abuse or Pregnancy, unable to perform one or more of the Material Duties of Any Occupation, and, due to such inability, your Work Earnings are less than 60% of your Indexed Predisability Earnings, and you are incapable of earning 60% or more of your Indexed Predisability Earnings.

Your Work Earnings may be Deductible Income. See the "LTD Benefit Calculation" and "Deductible Income" sections.

- C. Loss of License or Certification. For an Insured Person whose occupation requires a license, a restriction or loss of license does not, in itself, constitute a Disability.
- D. Preventive Measures. Your inability to perform any of your Material Duties because of preventive treatments or other preventive measures does not, by itself, constitute a Disability.
- E. Your Own Occupation Period and Any Occupation Period are specified in the "Schedule of Benefits".

GLDI-C1300-(12/06)

IX. CUMULATIVE ELIMINATION PERIOD

A. If you are Disabled, you will not be penalized for trying to work during the Elimination Period. The following scale shows the number of days your disability can cease without being required to satisfy a new Elimination Period.

| Elimination | Number of Days |
|-----------------|----------------------|
| Period | Disability Can Cease |
| 30 days or more | Up to 5 days |
| 60 days or more | Up to 10 days |
| 90 days or more | Up to 15 days |

- B. For accumulating days of Disability to satisfy the Elimination Period, the following will apply:
 - 1. A period of Disability will be treated as continuous during the Elimination Period unless you are determined to be neither totally nor partially disabled for more than the number of days allowed in the schedule above, or as otherwise specified on the "Schedule of Benefits" page; and
 - 2. Days the Insured is not totally or partially disabled will not be used to satisfy the Elimination Period, and may be consecutive or intermittent.

GLDI-C1405-(12/06)

X. RECURRENT DISABILITY

- A. If you return to work for your Employer from a Disability for which benefits were payable under the Group Policy and then become Disabled again due to the same or related cause, we will treat the separate periods of Disability as one period of continuous Disability, provided you are continuously insured under the Group Policy during the period of recovery and the period of recovery does not exceed 6 months. Benefits resume on the date your Disability recurs.
- B. If you return to work for your Employer from a Disability covered under the Group Policy and then become Disabled again due to an unrelated cause, we will treat the subsequent Disability as a new claim, subject to all of the terms of the Group Policy.
- C. If you return to work for your Employer from a Disability covered under the Group Policy and then become Disabled again more than 6 months after you return to work, the subsequent Disability will be treated as a new claim, subject to all of the terms of the Group Policy.
- D. For the purposes of this provision, if your occupation with the Employer does not allow you to be Actively at Work for the entire calendar year due to a seasonal or regularly scheduled employment break, we will consider you to have returned to work if you would have been able to return to work had work been regularly scheduled.

GLDI-C1500-(12/06)

XI. WHEN LTD BENEFITS END

- A. Your LTD Benefits end automatically on the earliest of the following:
 - 1. The date you are no longer Disabled;
 - 2. The date your Maximum Benefit Period ends;
 - 3. The date you die;

- 4. The date you become eligible for coverage under any other group LTD plan under which you become insured through employment;
- 5. The date you fail to provide satisfactory objective medical evidence of continued Disability;
- 6. The date you fail to comply with our request to be examined by a Physician, other medical practitioner and/or a vocational or rehabilitation expert of our choice;
- 7. The date you refuse to accept an accommodated position in your Own Occupation, offered by your Employer, which you are able to perform;
- 8. The date at which you have resided outside of the United States or Canada for 6 months;
- 9. The date you are confined in a penal or correctional institution or under house arrest;
- 10. The date you fail to comply with any requirements set forth in Section XIX, Responsibilities of Disabled Insureds.
- 11. The date you are able to work but choose not to.

GLDI-C1600-(12/06)

XII. PREDISABILITY EARNINGS

- A. **Predisability Earnings** means your earnings in effect on your last full day of Active Work prior to becoming Disabled. Unless otherwise specifically provided for under the Group Policy, any subsequent change in your earnings will not affect your Predisability Earnings.
- B. Methods of Calculating Predisability Earnings
 - 1. Salaried Employees. Your monthly Predisability Earnings are equal to your annual Predisability Earnings divided by twelve.
 - 2. Hourly Employees. If you are paid hourly, your monthly Predisability Earnings will be based on your hourly pay rate multiplied by the number of hours you are regularly scheduled to work per month, not to exceed 173 hours. If you do not have regular work hours, your monthly Predisability Earnings are based on the average number of hours you worked per month during the preceding 12 calendar months (or during your period of employment if less than 12 months), not to exceed 173 hours.

C. Predisability Earnings:

- 1. For all Pastors and Ministers only, includes base rate of pay, housing allowance and Employer's Social Security contributions.
- 2. For all others employees, includes base rate of pay and excludes commissions, bonuses, overtime pay and any other extra compensation.
- D. Notwithstanding Section A above, in no event will your monthly Predisability Earnings exceed either the monthly salary for which premiums have been paid or the Maximum Monthly Covered Salary.

GLDI-C1700-(12/06)

XIII. LTD BENEFIT CALCULATION

- A. Your monthly **Gross LTD Benefit** is equal to the lesser of your monthly Predisability Earnings times the LTD Benefit Percentage, or the Maximum Monthly Benefit.
- B. Your monthly **LTD Benefit** is calculated as follows:
 - 1. During the Work Incentive Period, Your LTD Benefit will be equal to your monthly Gross LTD Benefit minus monthly Deductible Income (subject to the Minimum Monthly Benefit);

- 2. Upon expiration of the Work Incentive Period, your LTD Benefit will be calculated as follows (subject to the Minimum Monthly Benefit): $(A \div B) \times C$, up to 80% of your monthly Predisability Earnings, where:
 - A = monthly Indexed Predisability Earnings minus Work Earnings for that same period.
 - B = monthly Indexed Predisability Earnings.
 - C = monthly Gross LTD Benefit, using Indexed Predisability Earnings instead of Predisability Earnings, minus monthly Deductible Income (exclusive of Work Earnings).

GLDI-C1800-(12/06)

XIV. DEDUCTIBLE INCOME

A. To receive the full measure of income under the Group Policy, you must apply for all Deductible Income for which you may be eligible as soon as you are entitled to such benefits. If you do not apply for and actively pursue in good faith all Deductible Income for which you may be eligible, we may make our own conclusion as to whether you are entitled to those benefits. If we reasonably and in good faith determine that you are entitled to Deductible Income, we will estimate the amount of those benefits and reduce the Gross LTD Benefit by that estimated amount as of the date on which we deem you were eligible to receive Deductible Income. Integration of the estimated amount of Deductible Income that we have determined is available to you will continue until you provide us with proof that you have filed the appropriate application(s) and continue to actively pursue Deductible Income.

Each month we will determine your LTD Benefit using the Deductible Income for the same monthly period, even if you receive the Deductible Income in another month.

- B. If you are paid Deductible Income in a lump sum, we will use the period of time to which the Deductible Income applies. If no period of time is stated, we will make a reasonable estimate.
- C. We will not estimate the amount of Deductible Income nor reduce your Gross LTD Benefit by any amounts for which applications or administrative appeals for Deductible Income are pending, provided that you:
 - 1. apply for in good faith and pursue to our satisfaction all Deductible Income for which we determine you might be eligible;
 - 2. designate, at our request, an agent endorsed by us as your representative in the application process and cooperate with that representative at all stages of the application process;
 - 3. keep us informed on a timely basis of the status of all applications for Deductible Income;
 - 4. sign a Reimbursement Agreement; and
 - 5. pursue administrative appeals of Deductible Income denials.
- D. **Deductible Income** includes the following:
 - 1. Sick pay (including donated amounts and paid time off);
 - 2. Annual or personal leave pay, severance pay, or other salary continuation, payable to you by your Employer;
 - 3. Work Earnings as follows:
 - a) During the first 12 months of benefits (the "Work Incentive Period"), if the total amount of your Gross LTD Benefit plus the amount you receive from Work Earnings exceeds 100% of your Predisability Earnings, the amount in excess of 100% of your Predisability Earnings will be included in Deductible Income;

- b) Upon expiration of the Work Incentive Period, your Work Earnings will be offset as provided in the "LTD Benefit Calculation" section.
- 4. Any amount you receive or are eligible to receive because of your Disability under any of the following:
 - a) a Workers' Compensation Law to the extent we, at our discretion, determine that these amounts are of the general character as payments provided under the Group Policy for Disability;
 - b) the Jones Act:
 - a) Maritime Doctrine of Maintenance, Wages or Cure;
 - b) Longshoremen's and Harbor Worker's Act;
 - c) any similar act or law;
- 5. The amount that you, your Spouse and children receive or are eligible to receive because of your Disability, or retirement benefits under:
 - a) the United States Social Security Act;
 - b) the Canada Pension Plan;
 - c) the Quebec Pension Plan;
 - d) the Railroad Retirement Act; or
 - e) any similar Plan or Act;

Benefits your Spouse or a child receive or are eligible to receive because of your Disability are Deductible Income regardless of the marital status, custody, or place of residence;

- 6. Any amount you receive or are eligible to receive because of your Disability under any state disability income benefit law or similar law;
- 7. Except as specifically excluded below, any amount you receive or are eligible to receive because of your Disability under automobile insurance;
- 8. Retirement plans
 - a) Any disability or retirement benefits you receive or are eligible to receive because of your Disability under your Employer's retirement plan, including a public employee retirement system, a state teacher retirement system, or a plan arranged and maintained by a union or employee association for the benefit of its members:
 - b) If any of these plans has two or more payment options, the option which comes closest to providing you a monthly income to age 65 with no survivor benefit will be used to determine Deductible Income:
 - c) Your and your Employer's contributions will be considered as distributed simultaneously throughout your lifetime, regardless of how funds are distributed from the retirement plan;
- 9. Any amount you receive or are eligible to receive under any unemployment compensation law or similar act or law:
- 10. Any amount you receive or are eligible to receive from or on behalf of a third party because of your Disability, whether by judgment, settlement or other method. If you notify us before filing suit or settling your claim against such third party, the amount used as Deductible Income will be reduced by a pro rata share of your costs of recovery, including reasonable attorney fees;
- 11. Any amount you receive by compromise, settlement, or other method as a result of a claim for any of the above, whether disputed or undisputed;
- 12. Any amount you receive under any "no fault" motor vehicle plan.

E. **Deductible Income** does not include the following:

- 1. Any cost of living increases in any Deductible Income other than Work Earnings, if the increase becomes effective while you are Disabled and while you are eligible for the Deductible Income;
- 2. Reimbursement for hospital, medical or surgical expense;
- 3. Reasonable attorneys' fees incurred in connection with a claim for Deductible Income;
- 4. Benefits from any individual disability insurance policy;
- 5. Early retirement benefits under the Federal Social Security Act which are not received;
- 6. Group credit or mortgage disability insurance benefits;
- 7. Accelerated benefits paid under a life insurance policy;
- 8. Under your Employer's retirement plan, any amount you could have received upon termination of employment without being disabled or retired;
- 9. Benefits from the following:
 - a) Profit sharing plan;
 - b) Thrift or savings plan;
 - c) Deferred compensation plan;
 - d) Plan under IRC Section 401(k), 408(k), or 457;
 - e) Individual Retirement Account (IRA);
 - d) Tax Sheltered Annuity (TSA) under IRC Section 403(b);
 - e) Stock ownership plan;
 - f) Keogh (HR-10) plan;
 - g) Retirement plan under a professional service corporation with respect to principals.

GLDI-C1900-(12/06)

XV. BENEFITS AFTER INSURANCE ENDS OR IS CHANGED

- A. During each period of continuous Disability, we will pay LTD Benefits according to the terms of your Employer's coverage under the Group Policy in effect on the date you become Disabled. Your right to receive LTD Benefits will not be affected by:
 - 1. any amendment to the Group Policy or your Employer's coverage under the Group Policy that is effective after you become Disabled.
 - 2. termination of the Group Policy or your Employer's coverage under the Group Policy after you become Disabled.

GLDI-C2000-(12/06)

XVI. EFFECT OF NEW DISABILITY

- A. If a period of Disability is extended by a new cause while LTD Benefits are payable, LTD Benefits will continue while you remain Disabled, subject to the following:
 - 1. LTD Benefits will not continue beyond the end of the original Maximum Benefit Period;
 - 2. The "Exclusions" and "Limitations" sections will apply to the new cause of Disability.

GLDI-C2100-(12/06)

XVII. EXCLUSIONS

- A. War. You are not covered for a Disability caused or contributed to by War or any act of War. War means a state or period of declared or undeclared war whether civil or international, any substantial armed conflict with organized forces of a military nature between nations, states or parties, or acts of terrorism.
- B. Criminal Conduct. You are not covered for a Disability caused or contributed to by your committing or attempting to commit an assault, battery, or any other crime. You are not covered for a Disability caused as a result of your engaging in an illegal activity, or actively participating in a violent disorder or riot. Actively participating does not include being at the scene of a violent disorder or riot while performing your official duties.
- C. Military Leave. You are not covered for a Disability that occurs during any military leave for active duty, including training duty, the National Guard and Coast Guard, or any active or reserve component of the military forces of any state or country.
- D. Imprisonment. No LTD Benefits will be paid for any period of Disability when you are, for any reason, confined in a penal or correctional institution or under house arrest.
- E. Intentionally Self-Inflicted Injury-Suicide. You are not covered for a Disability caused or contributed to by an intentionally self-inflicted injury or attempted suicide, while sane or insane.
- F. Pre-existing Condition.
 - 1. You are not covered for a Disability caused or contributed to by a Pre-existing Condition or medical or surgical treatment of a Pre-existing Condition unless:
 - a) you have not received treatment for the Pre-existing Condition for 6 consecutive months from the effective date of your insurance, or
 - b) you have been continuously insured under the Group Policy for at least 12 months and have been Actively at Work for at least one full day after the end of the 12 months.
 - 2. If you are not covered for a Disability because of the Pre-existing Condition exclusion for Your current LTD coverage, you are not covered for that same Disability for any LTD coverage increase because of an Eligible Class or Group Policy change.
 - 3. LTD coverage increase because of an Eligible Class or Group Policy change. The amount of any LTD coverage increase because of an Eligible Class or Group Policy change is not covered for a Disability caused or contributed to by a Pre-existing Condition or medical or surgical treatment of a Pre-existing Condition unless:
 - a) you have not received treatment for the Pre-existing Condition for 6 consecutive months from the effective date of the LTD coverage increase, or
 - b) you have been continuously insured under the Group Policy for at least 12 months from the effective date of the LTD coverage increase and have been Actively at Work for at least one full day after the end of the 12 months.
 - 4. **Pre-existing Condition** means a mental or physical condition whether or not diagnosed or misdiagnosed for which you have consulted a Physician or other licensed medical professional, received medical treatment, services or advice, undergone diagnostic procedures, including self-administered procedures, or taken prescribed drugs or medications at any time during the 3 month period just before the effective date of your insurance under the Group Policy or the effective date of the LTD coverage increase.

- G. Failure to be Under the Regular Care of a Physician.
 - 1. You are not covered for a Disability when you are not under the Regular Care of a Physician in the appropriate specialty as determined by us, providing appropriate treatment in accordance with the Physical Disease, Injury, Pregnancy, Substance Abuse or Mental Disorder that caused the Disability.
 - 2. You are not covered for a Disability that has not been diagnosed by your attending Physician. Subjective complaints alone will not be considered conclusive evidence of a Disability. The attending Physician must be able to provide objective medical evidence to support his or her opinion as to why you are not able to perform the Material Duties of your occupation.
- H. Failure of Obligations. You are not covered for a Disability when you fail to satisfy your obligations as required under this Certificate.
- I. Occupational Disability. You are not covered for a Disability arising out of or in the course of any employment for wage or profit. You are not covered for any Disability for which Worker's Compensation benefits are payable.
- J. Motor-driven Vehicle. You are not covered for a Disability caused or contributed to by your riding in or driving any motor-driven vehicle in a race, stunt show, or speed test; or while testing any vehicle on any racecourse or speedway.
- K. Sporting Event. You are not covered for a Disability that occurs as a result of participating in any sporting event for pay or prize money.
- L. Aircraft. You are not covered for a Disability that occurs as a result of operating, learning to operate, serving as a crew member on, or jumping from or falling from any aircraft including those which are not motor-driven.
- M. Poison Gas. You are not covered for a Disability caused or contributed to by your voluntary taking of poison or inhaling of gas

GLDI-C2200-(12/06)

XVIII. LIMITATIONS

A. Mental Disorder

- 1. LTD Benefit payments based on a Mental Disorder are limited to 24 months for each period of continuous Disability.
- 2. Exception to 24 month limitation. If at the end of that 24 months, you are confined in a Hospital, or other facility qualified to provide necessary care and treatment for Mental Disorders, for at least 12 days immediately following that 24 month period, LTD Benefits will continue during such confinement, not to exceed the Maximum Benefit Period.

B. Substance Abuse

- 1. LTD Benefit payments based on Substance Abuse are limited to 24 months for each period of continuous Disability. You must be participating in an available substance abuse rehabilitative program recommended by a Physician. An available substance abuse rehabilitative program is a program available to you through either: (i) another group plan of your employer (such as an Employee Assistance Program or Medical Plan); or (ii) services generally available to the public through local community services at no or minimal cost to you. Except as otherwise provided for below, LTD benefits will not be made beyond the earlier of the following:
 - a) the date at which LTD Benefits have been paid for 24 months;
 - b) the date you are no longer participating in the rehabilitative program;

- c) the date you refuse to participate in an available rehabilitative program; or
- d) the date you complete the rehabilitative program.
- 2. Exception to 24 month limitation. If at the end of that 24 months, you are confined in a Hospital, or other facility qualified to provide necessary care and treatment for Substance Abuse, for at least 12 days immediately following that 24 month period, LTD Benefits will continue during such confinement, not to exceed the Maximum Benefit Period.
- C. Foreign Residency. Payment of LTD Benefits is limited to 6 months for each period of continuous Disability while you reside outside of the United States or Canada.
- D. Payment Limit. In no event will the LTD Benefit plus Deductible Income plus Work Earnings exceed 100% of Predisability Earnings. In the event your LTD Benefit plus Deductible Income plus Work Earnings exceeds 100% of Predisability Earnings, the LTD Benefit will be reduced by the amount in excess of 100% of Predisability Earnings.

GLDI-C2300-(12/06)

XIX. RESPONSIBILITIES OF DISABLED INSURED PERSONS

A. Your Obligations During a Period of Disability

- 1. You must make a good faith effort to recover from, or reduce the severity of, your Disability and the resulting loss of income, or you will forfeit benefits. The Group Policy requires you to take a variety of actions in this regard, including, but not limited to, the following:
 - a) You must accept any position within a broad definition of Own Occupation that you can perform and which your Employer or another employer makes available during the Own Occupation Period regardless of whether the compensation for such work is less than your Predisability Earnings. The income earned will be treated as Work Earnings.
 - b) You must arrange for and use the Regular Care of a Physician. In addition, you must pursue any reasonable medical procedure or treatment that would likely improve your condition or end your Disability, and that does not pose unreasonable risks.
 - c) You must submit periodic evidence from your Physician that substantiates, to our satisfaction, that you remain Disabled. This required evidence includes, but is not limited to, objective medical and/or psychiatric evidence from a Physician that confirms your Disability. Subjective complaints alone will not be considered conclusive evidence of a Disability. The attending Physician must be able to provide objective medical evidence to support his/her opinion as to why you are not able to perform the Material Duties of your Own Occupation or Any Occupation. You must obtain and provide this information at your own expense.
 - d) Where they exist, you must engage in appropriate medical and/or occupational rehabilitation programs that are reasonably expected to enable you to return to work. You must notify us when you participate in such a program.
 - e) You must appeal denials of Deductible Income and actively pursue such appeals in good faith.
 - f) You must promptly provide us with all information that we reasonably decide is necessary to verify and administer your claim for benefits.

2. Return to Work Responsibility.

a) During the Own Occupation Period, no LTD Benefits will be paid for any period of Disability when you are able to work in your Own Occupation and are able to earn at least 80% of your Indexed Predisability Earnings, but you elect not to work.

- b) During the Any Occupation Period, no LTD Benefits will be paid for any period of Disability when you are able to work in Any Occupation and are able to earn at least 60% of your Indexed Predisability Earnings, but elect not to work.
- c) Any earnings you receive from work you perform, or that you could receive if you worked as much as you are able to considering your Disability, that are less than 60% of your Indexed Predisability Earnings will be treated as Work Earnings.
- 2. Duty to Furnish Information. To receive benefits under the Group Policy, you must authorize and direct medical care providers and sources of earnings or Deductible Income to provide us with all information and records that we reasonably determine to be relevant to the determination of benefits or eligibility for benefits. We do not pay fees charged for submitting this information to us. Any such costs will be your responsibility.
- B. Our Right to Examine. We may require you to be examined by a Physician, other medical practitioner and/or vocational expert of our choice, in addition to your obligation to be under the Regular Care of a Physician as specified above. In such case, we will pay for the additional examination. You must cooperate fully with the Physician, medical practitioner or vocational expert and give full effort to such examinations. We can require an examination as often as it is reasonable to do so. We may also require you to be interviewed by an authorized Company representative.

C. Insured Person's Failure to Comply

- 1. We have the right to suspend benefits during any portion of a Disability in which you fail to comply with any of the requirements set forth in this Certificate.
- 2. We have the further right to terminate irrevocably all further benefits under the Group Policy when benefits have been suspended for a period of 6 consecutive months due to your failure to comply with any of the requirements of the Group Policy.

GLDI-C2400-(12/06)

XX. CLAIMS

A. Notice of Claim

- 1. Written notice of claim should be given to us within 30 days of the date the Elimination Period ends, if that is possible. If that is not possible, you must notify us as soon as it is reasonably possible to do so.
- 2. When we receive a written notice of claim, we will send you our claim forms for filing Proof of Loss. If you do not receive the forms within 15 days after written notice of claim is sent, you can send us written Proof of Loss without waiting for the forms.

B. Proof of Loss

- 1. **Proof of Loss** means all the information necessary to determine that a loss occurred:
 - a) for which the Group Policy provides benefits; and
 - b) which is not subject to any exclusions; and
 - c) which meets all other conditions for benefits.
- 2. Written Proof of Loss must be furnished to us at our home office no later than 90 days after the end of the Elimination Period. If it is not possible to give proof within this time limit, it must be given as soon as reasonably possible, but not later than one year following the end of the 90 day period. These limits will not apply while an Insured Person lacks legal capacity.
- 3. Any items we may reasonably require in support of a claim, such as completed claims statements and a signed authorization for us to obtain information including tax information, must be submitted at your

expense. If the required documentation is not provided within 60 days after we mail our request, your claim may be denied. No benefits will be paid until we receive Proof of Loss satisfactory to us.

C. Investigation of Claim

- 1. We may investigate a claim at any time.
- 2. At our expense, we may have you examined at reasonable intervals by specialists of our choice. We may deny or suspend benefits if you fail to attend an examination, give full effort or cooperate with the examiner.

D. Payment of Claims

- 1. We will pay LTD Benefits within 30 days after we receive satisfactory Proof of Loss, but not before satisfaction of the Elimination Period.
- 2. Claim Payment Method. LTD Benefit payments that you qualify for will be paid to you as specified in the "Schedule of Benefits". Payments for partial weekly benefits will be pro-rated based on a 7 day week. Payments for partial monthly benefits will be pro-rated based on a 30 day month.
- 3. LTD Benefits payable at the time of your death will be paid to the person(s) receiving the "Survivor Benefit" if applicable. If no "Survivor Benefit" is paid, the unpaid LTD Benefits will be paid to your estate.

E. Notice of Adverse Decision on Claim

- 1. We will notify you of an adverse benefit determination within a reasonable period of time, but not later than 45 days after we receive satisfactory Proof of Loss. This period may be extended by us for up to 30 days, provided that we determine that such an extension is necessary due to matters beyond our control, and provided that we notify you prior to the end of the initial 45 day period, of the circumstances requiring the extension of time and the date by which we expect to render a decision.
- 2. If, prior to the end of the first 30 day extension period, we determine that, due to matters beyond our control, a decision cannot be rendered within that extension period, the period for making the determination may be extended for up to an additional 30 days, provided that we notify you prior to the expiration of the first 30 day extension period, of the circumstances requiring the extension and the date as of which we expect to render a decision.
- 3. In the case of any extension, the notice of extension will specifically explain the standards on which entitlement to a benefit is based, the unresolved issues that prevent a decision on the claim and the additional information needed to resolve those issues. You will be given at least 45 days within which to provide the specified information.
- 3. If we deny any part of your claim, you will receive a written notice of denial containing the following:
 - a) the reasons for our decision;
 - b) reference to the provisions of the Group Policy on which our decision is based;
 - c) a description of any additional information needed to support your claim;
 - d) information concerning your right to a review of our decision.

F. Review Procedure

- 1. If all or part of a claim is denied, you may request a review. A request for a review must be in writing and received by us within 120 days after you receive notice of the denial.
- 2. You may send us written comments or other items to support the claim and may review any non-privileged information that relates to the request for review.
- 3. We will review the claim promptly after we receive the request. We will send you a notice of our decision within 45 days after we receive the request, unless special circumstances require an extension. If we determine that an extension of time for processing is required, written notice of the extension will be

furnished to you prior to the expiration of the initial 45 day period. In no event will such extension exceed a period of 60 days from the end of the initial period.

G. Assignment. The rights and benefits under the Group Policy are not assignable.

GLDI-C2500-(12/06)

XXI. RIGHT TO REIMBURSEMENT

- A. If we make benefit payments to you in excess of the amounts required by the provisions of this Group Policy or, if you receive retroactive benefits from any Deductible Income source for periods of time during which we paid benefits to you, you must reimburse us for any such excess, duplicate, or erroneous payments.
- B. Before any LTD Benefits are paid to you, you must execute and deliver to us a Reimbursement Agreement, provided by us, setting forth specific terms of reimbursement.
- C. Upon request, you must execute and deliver to us such documents as may be required, and do whatever else may be necessary, to secure our rights to recover any excess, duplicate, or erroneous payments.
- D. You must reimburse us in a satisfactory and timely manner for any payments made to which you were not entitled under the terms of this Policy. Such reimbursement will be due and payable immediately upon our notification to you. At our option, subsequent payment of benefits or the refund of any premium owed to you by us may be reduced or applied by us directly toward such reimbursement obligation. If you delay in notifying us of your receipt of Deductible Income or in making reimbursement to us, we will have the right to charge interest at a reasonable rate on the delinquent amount owed to us.
- E. Our acceptance of premium or other fees, or our providing or paying of benefits, does not constitute a waiver of our rights to enforce the provisions of this section in the future. The provisions of this section are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other rights or remedies available to us at law or in equity.
- F. The Monthly Minimum Payment may be applied to recover an outstanding overpayment.

GLDI-C2600-(12/06)

XXII. ALLOCATION OF AUTHORITY

- A. Except for those functions which the Group Policy specifically reserves to the Policyowner or Employer, we have full and exclusive authority to control and manage the Group Policy, to administer claims and to interpret the Group Policy and resolve all questions arising in the administration, interpretation and application of the Group Policy.
- B. Our authority includes, but is not limited to the following:
 - 1. the right to resolve all matters when a review has been requested;
 - 2. the right to establish and enforce rules and procedures for the administration of the Group Policy and any claim under it;
 - 3. the right to determine the following:
 - a) eligibility for insurance;
 - b) entitlement to benefits;
 - c) the amount of benefits payable;
 - d) the sufficiency and the amount of information we may reasonably require to determine a., b., or c., above.

C. Subject to the review procedures of the Group Policy, any decision we make in the exercise of our authority is conclusive and binding.

GLDI-C2800-(12/06)

XXIII. TIME LIMITS ON LEGAL ACTIONS

- A. No action at law or in equity may be brought until 60 days after we have received Proof of Loss. No such action may be brought more than three years after the earlier of the following:
 - 1. the date we receive Proof of Loss;
 - 2. the time within which Proof of Loss is required to be given.

GLDI-C2900-(12/06)

XXIV. INCONTESTABILITY PROVISIONS

- A. Incontestability of Insurance
 - 1. Any statement made to obtain or to increase insurance is a representation and not a warranty.
 - 2. No misrepresentation will be used as a basis for reducing or denying a claim or contesting the validity of insurance unless:
 - a) the insurance would not have been approved if we had known the truth; and
 - b) we have given you or any other person claiming benefits a copy of the signed written instrument which contains the misrepresentation.
 - 3. After insurance has been in effect for two years, during the lifetime of the Insured Person, we will not use a misrepresentation as a basis for reducing or denying a claim, unless it was a fraudulent misrepresentation.
- B. Incontestability of the Group Policy or Employer Coverage under the Group Policy
 - 1. Any statements made by the Policyowner to obtain the Group Policy or made by an Employer to obtain coverage under the Group Policy is a representation and not a warranty.
 - 2. No misrepresentation by the Policyowner or your Employer will be used as a basis for denying a claim, or for denying the validity of the Group Policy or your Employer's coverage under the Group Policy unless:
 - a) the Group Policy would not have been issued or your Employer's coverage under the Group Policy would not have been approved if we had known the truth; and
 - b) we have given the Policyowner or Employer a copy of a written instrument signed by the Policyowner or Employer which contains the misrepresentation.
 - 3. The validity of the Group Policy or your Employer's coverage under the Group Policy will not be contested after it has been in force for two years, except for nonpayment of premiums or fraudulent misrepresentations.

GLDI-C3000-(12/06)

XXV. CLERICAL ERROR AND MISSTATEMENT

A. Clerical Error

1. Clerical error by us, the Policyowner, Employer, or their respective employees or representatives will not:

- a) cause a person to become insured under the Group Policy or a provision of it.
- b) invalidate insurance otherwise validly in force.
- c) continue insurance otherwise validly terminated.
- d) cause an Employer to obtain coverage under the Group Policy or a provision of it.
- 2. In the event that a clerical error results in an incorrect rate, we reserve the right to adjust the rate accordingly.
- B. The payment of premium, by itself, will not obligate us to provide benefits to anyone who is not eligible for coverage under the Group Policy.
- C. Your Employer acts on its own behalf as your agent, and not as our agent. Your Employer has no authority to alter, expand or extend our liability or to waive, modify or compromise any defense or right we may have under the Group Policy.
- D. Misstatement of Age or Gender
 - 1. If the age or gender, or both, of a person has been misstated, we will make an equitable adjustment of premiums, benefits or both. The adjustment will be based on:
 - a) the amount of insurance based on the correct age and gender; and
 - b) the difference between the premiums paid and the premiums which would have been paid if the age and gender had been correctly stated.

GLDI-C3100-(12/06)

XXVI. FRAUD

A. It is unlawful to knowingly provide false, incomplete or misleading facts or information with the intent of defrauding us. An application for insurance or claim containing any materially false or misleading information may lead to reduction, denial or termination of benefits or coverage under the Group Policy and recovery of any amounts we have paid.

GLDI-C3200-(12/06)

XXVII. TERMINATION OR AMENDMENT OF THE GROUP POLICY AND EMPLOYER COVERAGE

- A. The Group Policy may be terminated, changed or amended in whole or in part by us or the Policyowner according to the terms of the Group Policy. Any such change or amendment may apply to current or future Employers and Eligible Persons covered under the Group Policy or to any separate classes or categories thereof. An Employer's coverage under the Group Policy may be terminated, changed or amended in whole or in part by us or the Employer according to the terms of the Group Policy.
- B. We may change the Group Policy and any Employer's coverage under the Group Policy in whole or in part when any change or clarification in law or governmental regulation affects our obligations under the Group Policy, or with the Policyowner's or Employer's consent.
- C. We may terminate an Employer's coverage on any premium due date by giving the Employer not less than 31 days advance notice. An Employer may terminate coverage under the Group Policy in whole, and may terminate insurance for any class or group of Eligible Persons, at any time by giving us advanced written notice at least 31 days prior to such termination. Insurance will terminate automatically for nonpayment of premium.
- D. Benefits are limited to the terms of your Employer's coverage under the Group Policy, including any valid amendments. No change or amendment of your Employer's coverage will be valid unless it is approved in

writing by one of our executive officers and delivered to your Employer. The Policyowner, your Employer and their respective employees or representatives have no right or authority to change or amend the Group Policy or your Employer's coverage under the Group Policy or to waive any terms or provisions thereof without our signed, written approval.

GLDI-C3300-(12/06)

XXVIII. REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION EXPENSE BENEFIT

- A. If you return to work in Any Occupation for any employer (but not including self-employment) as a result of a reasonable accommodation made by such employer, we will pay your employer a Reasonable Accommodation Expense Benefit of up to \$3,000, but not to exceed the expenses incurred.
- B. The Reasonable Accommodation Expense Benefit is payable only if:
 - 1. the reasonable accommodation is approved by us in writing prior to its implementation; and
 - 2. the reasonable accommodation meets the federal standards of a reasonable accommodation under the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1991, as amended.

GLDI-C6200-(12/06)

XXIX. REHABILITATION BENEFIT

- A. While you are Disabled, you may qualify to participate in a Rehabilitation Plan. Rehabilitation Plan means a written plan, program or course of medical treatment or vocational training or education that is intended to prepare you to return to work full time.
- B. To participate in a Rehabilitation Plan, you must apply in a letter to us. The terms, conditions and objectives of the plan must be accepted by you and approved by us in advance. We have the sole discretion to evaluate, approve and/or terminate your Rehabilitation Plan at any time.
- C. While you are participating in an approved Rehabilitation Plan, your LTD Benefit will be reduced by 50% of any income earned by you for work done under the Rehabilitation Plan. If the sum of your Gross LTD Benefit and Work Earnings exceeds 100% of Predisability Earnings, the excess will be included in Deductible Income. At no time will LTD Benefits be paid beyond the Maximum Benefit Period or be less than the Minimum Monthly Benefit.

GLDI-C6300-(12/06)

XXX. SURVIVOR BENEFIT

- A. If you die while LTD Benefits are payable, and on the date you die you have been continuously Disabled for at least 180 days, we will pay a Survivor Benefit as follows:
 - 1. The Survivor Benefit will consist of a lump sum equal to 3 times the amount of your last LTD Benefit.
 - 2. The Survivor Benefit will first be applied to reduce any overpayment of your claim.
 - 3. The Survivor Benefit will be paid at our option to any one of the following:
 - a) Your surviving Spouse;
 - b) Your surviving unmarried children, including adopted children, under age 25;
 - c) Your surviving Spouse's unmarried children, including adopted children, under age 25.
 - 4. No Survivor Benefit will be paid if you are not survived by any person listed in 3a., b., or c. above.

GLDI-C6800-(12/06)

GENERAL PURPOSES AND LIMITATIONS OF THE KANSAS LIFE AND HEALTH INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION K.S.A. 40-3001, et. seq.

DISCLAIMER

THE KANSAS LIFE AND HEALTH INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION MAY NOT PROVIDE COVERAGE FOR ALL OR A PORTION OF THIS POLICY. IF COVERAGE IS PROVIDED, IT MAY BE SUBJECT TO SUBSTANTIAL LIMITATIONS AND EXCLUSIONS, AND IS CONDITIONED UPON RESIDENCY IN THIS STATE. THEREFORE, YOU SHOULD NOT RELY UPON COVERAGE BY THE KANSAS LIFE AND HEALTH INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION IN SELECTING AN INSURANCE COMPANY OR IN SELECTING AN INSURANCE POLICY. INSURANCE COMPANIES AND THEIR AGENTS ARE PROHIBITED BY LAW FROM USING THE EXISTENCE OF THE KANSAS LIFE AND HEALTH INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION IN SELLING YOU ANY FORM OF AN INSURANCE POLICY, OR TO INDUCE YOU TO PURCHASE ANY FORM OF AN INSURANCE POLICY. EITHER THE KANSAS LIFE AND HEALTH INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION OR THE KANSAS INSURANCE DEPARTMENT WILL RESPOND TO ANY QUESTIONS YOU HAVE REGARDING THIS DOCUMENT.

Kansas Life and Health Insurance Guaranty Association 2909 SW Maupin Lane Topeka, KS 66614 Kansas Insurance Department 420 SW 9th Street Topeka, KS 66612

This is a brief summary of the Kansas Life and Health Insurance Guaranty Association ("the Association") and the protection it provides for policyholders. If there is any inconsistency between this notice and Kansas law, then Kansas law will control.

The Association was established to provide protection in the unlikely event that your life, annuity or health insurance company becomes financially unable to meet its obligations and is taken over by its Insurance Department. If this should happen, the Association will typically arrange to continue coverage and pay claims, in accordance with Kansas law, with funding from assessments paid by other insurance companies. This safety net was created under Kansas law, which determines who and what is covered and the amounts of coverage. The basic protections provided by the Association are:

• Life Insurance

\$300,000 in death benefits

\$100,000 in cash surrender or withdrawal values

• Health Insurance

\$500,000 in hospital, medical and surgical insurance benefits

\$300,000 in disability insurance benefits

\$300,000 in long-term care insurance benefits

\$100,000 in other types of health insurance benefits

Annuities

\$250,000 in withdrawal and cash values

The maximum amount of protection for each individual, regardless of the number of policies or contracts, is \$300,000. Special rules may apply with regard to hospital, medical and surgical insurance benefits, as well as certain aggregate limits.